IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

S262010

v.

MARCOS ANTONIO RAMIREZ,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fifth Appellate District No. F076126 Tuolumne County Superior Court No. CRF50964 Honorable James A. Boscoe, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CENTRAL CALIFORNIA APPELLATE PROGRAM

LAUREL THORPE Executive Director

JACQUELYN LARSON Staff Attorney SBN 264712 2150 River Plaza Drive Suite 300 Sacramento, CA 95833 (916) 441-3792

Attorneys for Appellant Marcos Antonio Ramirez

ISSUES PRESENTED

This Court granted review on the following issues, as stated in the petition for review:

- 1. Did the majority err in affirming the trial court's finding that petitioner was voluntarily absent on the second day of trial without conducting an evidentiary hearing regarding the circumstances of petitioner's absence?
- 2. Was the violation of petitioner's constitutional right to be present for trial prejudicial error which requires reversal under both the *Watson* and *Chapman* standards?

INTRODUCTION

Appellant Marcos Antonio Ramirez, a 19-year-old with learning disabilities and no criminal history, was charged with burglary, a strike offense, and tried in absentia after defense counsel informed the trial court that appellant could not attend the second day of trial because he was seeking medical attention due to a drug overdose. The trial court denied a request for a mistrial and a request for a continuance. Trial – opening argument, testimony, closing arguments, and jury instructions – lasted less than one day. Appellant was unable to testify. The

next day, when appellant was again present, the jurors reached a verdict finding appellant guilty of attempted burglary (Pen. Code, §§ 664, 459), also a strike offense.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the conviction, holding that the appellant had voluntarily absented himself, and that any error in refusing to grant the continuance was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. This Court granted review.

Appellant contends that the trial court's decision to proceed with trial in his absence amounted to a violation of his right to be present under the state and federal constitutions. The right to be present may be waived by a voluntary absence, but in this case, there was no express or implicit waiver of appellant's right to be present. Moreover, this Court should find that merely terming an absence as "self-induced" is insufficient to find a voluntary absence. Instead, it must be clearly and affirmatively demonstrated on the record that a defendant has knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to be present. Without a hearing, this record does not establish appellant waived his right by intentionally creating a medical necessity for the purpose of effecting his absence from trial. Additionally, the trial court compounded this error by failing to grant a one-day continuance.

Finally, the trial court's decision to proceed with trial in appellant's absence, where it resulted in the complete deprivation of appellant's right to be present at trial, was prejudicial under any standard. The conviction must be reversed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 28, 2016, appellant was charged in a onecount information with first degree residential burglary in violation of Penal Code section 459. (CT 10.)

On April 12, 2017, the matter was scheduled for trial. (CT 19.) Trial did not proceed after appellant did not appear, with defense counsel informing the court that the appellant was ill. (CT 19.) The next day, appellant appeared with counsel, and produced a note that he was seen at a local medical center; jury trial was reset for July 5, 2017. (CT 20; RT 46.)

Trial began on July 5, 2017, and a jury was selected and sworn. (CT 23.) On July 6, 2017, the trial court was informed by defense counsel that appellant was unable to attend that day. The trial court declared that appellant had voluntarily absented himself, pursuant to Penal Code section 1043, and, over the objections of defense counsel, proceeded with trial in appellant's absence. (CT 27.)¹ On July 7, 2017, the jurors found appellant not guilty of burglary, but guilty as to the lesser included offense of attempted burglary, under Penal Code sections 664 and 459. (CT 38, 39, 92.)

Appellant was sentenced to a five-year term of formal probation and a jail term of five months. (CT 95.)

On appeal, appellant argued that the trial court violated his constitutional rights by finding him voluntarily absent and proceeding with trial in his absence. On March 5, 2020, the Fifth

_

¹ More detail as to this exchange will be presented in the Statement of Facts.

District affirmed his conviction, finding that the appellant was voluntarily absent and any error was harmless. (F076126, Opinion, pp. 12, 18.)

This Court granted review on June 17, 2020.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Facts Relating To The Underlying Crime

Pursuant to rule 8.500(c)(2) of the California Rules of Court, this Court normally will accept the court of appeal opinion's statement of the facts. Appellant briefly presents the facts relating to the underlying crime because they are relevant to the issue of prejudice, discussed herein.

Prior to June 25, 2016, Daniel D. noticed that the screen on his dining room window was bent and there was a smeared handprint on the outside of his window. (RT 56.) Daniel reviewed surveillance tapes on his home security system, which used infrared technology, and saw that between 2:00 a.m. and 3:00 a.m., someone tried to pull the screen back. (RT 59.) The man on the video put his hand behind the screen and tried to push up the window, then left. Daniel, who did not recognize the person, copied the surveillance tape and gave it to the Sonora Police Department. (RT 56, 59.)

When Officer John Bowly of the Sonora Police Department first viewed the video, he had no suspects in mind. (RT 64.) However, when he viewed the tape a second time, he came to suspect the individual depicted in the video was possibly appellant Ramirez. (RT 65.)

On July 29, 2016, while Officer Bowly and another officer were conducting a traffic stop, Officer Bowly observed appellant

walking along the street. (RT 65.) Officer Bowly noticed appellant was wearing a distinctive Oakland Raiders hat which the officer believed was very similar to the one worn by the attempted intruder on the surveillance video. (RT 66.) Officer Bowly approached appellant, and the officer's contact with appellant was captured on the officer's body camera. (RT 74.)

According to Officer Bowly, appellant first denied any involvement. (RT 70.) Officer Bowly then used a ruse, stating he had appellant's thumbprint on the window, and identified appellant from the video. (RT 70.) Officer Bowly asked whether, if the window had opened, appellant would have gone inside, or what he was doing. Appellant said he was "probably just looking." (RT 71.) Officer Bowly asked whether appellant had seen anything inside he wanted, and appellant said no. (RT 71.) When Officer Bowly confronted him with the damages done to the screen and asked if he was going to pay, appellant agreed, "if that's what he wanted." (RT 72.) The officer warned appellant that residential burglaries can be very dangerous because many homeowners have firearms. (RT 72.) Officer Bowly asked why he would do it, and appellant told the officer he was "probably under the influence," drunk or high. (RT 72.) Officer Bowly asked him what he was looking for, and appellant said "nothing." (RT 72.)

Following appellant's arrest, Officer Bowly took appellant's hat to Daniel's residence and used the hat in a test video. (RT 67.) On cross-examination, Officer Bowly conceded that, although he searched Google for an Oakland Raiders hat which had the same emblems as the one worn by the individual on the video

surveillance tape, the officer did not go to the Oakland Raiders' online store to locate a comparable hat. (RT 81.) The officer further acknowledged that there are likely thousands of Raiders hats like the one appellant was wearing at the time of his arrest. (RT 81.)

Facts Relating to the Trial in Absentia

At his arraignment, appellant was released on his own recognizance. (CT 6.) He remained on that status until the jury returned its verdict. (RT 199.) Trial was originally set for February 1, 2017, and then continued at appellant's request to April 12, 2017. (CT 15.)

On April 12, 2017, defense counsel informed the court that appellant's mother had telephoned counsel's office and stated appellant was ill, and she was going to take him to "Prompt Care" as soon as appellant was able to get out of bed. (CT 19.) The court vacated the jury trial and ordered issuance of a bench warrant, but stayed execution of the warrant until the next day. The minute order reflects that the next day appellant appeared with counsel. (CT 20.) The trial court later stated that appellant's mother had a note from a doctor that said appellant was seen at the Sonora Regional Medical Center. (RT 46, 51.) Trial was reset for July 5, 2017.

Trial began on July 5, 2017, and the jury was selected and sworn. (CT 23.) Appellant was present. (CT 23.) Court recessed for the day shortly before noon. It was anticipated trial could be finished the next day, and the jurors and parties were instructed to return at 8:30 a.m. the next morning. (RT 17, 38.)

On July 6, 2017, the matter reconvened in open court, but outside the presence of the jury, at 9:30 a.m. (RT 43.) The trial court stated on the record that he had been informed by defense counsel that appellant had ingested heroin and methamphetamine, had overdosed, and medical personnel were sent to his home. (RT 43.) Emergency personnel examined appellant at appellant's house, and appellant refused medical treatment. (RT 43.) Over the phone, the trial court had requested Officer Norris to go to the appellant's home and "advise him that we were expecting him to show up for trial.... [and] if he failed to appear in 15 minutes, which is a reasonable time to arrive in court given the distance of his home from the courthouse, that I would proceed to try him in his absence." (RT 44.)

After the parties put this information on the record, defense counsel received a telephone call from appellant's mother. Defense counsel reported that appellant and his mother were now at the emergency room, waiting to see a physician. (RT 45.) The prosecutor added that appellant's mom believed appellant had gone out with another individual. She thought he came home around 2:00 a.m. It was believed that he ingested the drugs sometime in the night. (RT 45.) The parties put the following on the record:

"[PROSECUTOR]: I received a text message from Officer Bowly . . . at 7:00 a.m. . . . indicating that at 7:00 a.m. Sonora Police Department had responded to [defendant's] home for the mother reporting that there was a potential overdose on heroin. When the officers arrived medical was there, and at 7:24 a.m. I got a message that the defendant declined medical attention and refused to go in the ambulance to the

hospital. . . . Our court hearing today was at 8:30 a.m. He did not show up at 8:30.

"When we met with the judge and the phone call was placed and Officer Norris responded back out to the house, it was at . . . approximately 9:25. The defendant originally indicated over the phone — which we can all hear Officer Norris, that he was going to come at about 9:30 this morning. When the Court indicated that Officer Norris should give him a ride, he was then asked if he was going to the hospital. At that point he switched, instead of coming to court, that he would rather go to the hospital.

"Apparently, he is waiting to see the doctor."

(RT 46-47.) Defense counsel added:

"[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: When we spoke to Officer Norris, Officer Norris clearly indicated that the defendant was [Health and Safety Code section] 11550, being under the influence of drugs.

"In speaking to the mother, she said that [defendant] was nodding out and being conscious and nonresponsive, and she said she was going to try to take him to the hospital. Then on the last call she said she was taking him out to the car to take him to the hospital. This latest phone call says that she was successful in getting him to the car.

"[Defendant] is 19 years old. He does have some learning disabilities. So a lot of things he says on the phone . . . cannot be taken at face value.

"And also if he's under the influence of drugs, I think he is likely to say anything to the policeman that was at his home."

(RT 48-49.)

Defense counsel requested the trial court to continue the case to the next day at 8:30 a.m., or declare a mistrial. (RT 49; CT 28.) The prosecutor stated that he had "plans to be out of town the next day that have been in place for some time now." (RT 49.)

The trial court then reviewed Penal Code section 1043, subdivision (b)(2), and determined that the question was whether appellant was voluntarily absent from trial. (RT 49-50.) The trial court found that appellant voluntarily ingested controlled substances to the extent that it required emergency response, but that the appellant was not in such a serious condition that he could not refuse treatment. (RT 50.) Additionally, this was the second time that appellant missed trial. (RT 51.) The trial court found no evidence that somebody forcibly injected or caused appellant to use controlled substances. (RT 52-53.) The trial court therefore denied the request for a mistrial, and summarily denied the request for a continuance. (RT 52.)

The trial in absentia commenced before 10:00 a.m. the same morning. (CT 28.) The proceedings before the jury—opening statement, evidence, and closing arguments—took about an hour and a half. At one point, a juror submitted a written question asking appellant's age. (CT 32, RT 77.) At a sidebar, the court commented that it assumed defense counsel would call appellant's mother to testify at trial, so she could answer that question. Defense counsel responded that he had told the mother that her testimony was going to be very limited and so he thought it was more important for her to stay with her son in the hospital. (RT 77.)

The court offered to take a recess if defense counsel wanted to have appellant's mother come in. Defense counsel suggested they break, go over jury instructions, return that afternoon, "and then if they're not here, then I will rest and then we will do

closing. [¶] . . . [¶] . . . I said if she's done at the hospital, bring him to the courtroom. His testimony should be around 11:15 or 1:15, depending upon how quickly we move. The mom said okay. She said she will text me...." (RT 88.) The court released the jury until 1:15 p.m. (RT 89.)

The court and counsel then reviewed the jury instructions. Defense counsel repeatedly suggested that appellant would still testify if he could attend. (RT 88, 92, 93, 95, 132.) When they finished discussing the instructions, the prosecutor asked if defense counsel had heard from appellant. Defense counsel responded that he and appellant's mother had been texting, and counsel had asked if she thought appellant could return at 1:30 and testify. Appellant's mother responded, "Not sure. Possibly, we can definitely try." Defense counsel stated he would call her during the lunch hour. (RT 106.)

After the lunch recess, defense counsel renewed his request for a mistrial in light of the fact appellant was not present and had to go to the emergency room. (RT 124; CT 29.) The renewed motion was denied. (RT 124; CT 29.) Defense counsel stated he received a text from the appellant's mother that appellant was not in the hospital any longer, that appellant went back home, and his mother said that he is "in no state to come to court and take the witness stand." (RT 132; CT 29.) The trial court stated that as of five minutes to 2:00 p.m., "I gave him certainly an opportunity to appear here at trial and put on any testimony or defense he may have." (RT 132.)

The defense subsequently rested without calling any witnesses. (RT 134.) After being instructed, the jury began deliberations a little before 3 p.m. (CT 29.)

Notwithstanding the quick trial, the jury deliberated for almost six hours, spread over two days, without the benefit of appellant's testimony. (CT 29, RT 29-30 [3 p.m. to 5 p.m.]; CT 91 [8 a.m. to noon].) Appellant was present the next day when the jury returned its verdict. (CT 91; RT 194.) The jury acquitted appellant of burglary, but convicted him of the lesser included offense of attempted burglary, a strike. (CT 38, 39, 91.)

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE APPELLANT VOLUNTARILY ABSENT.

A defendant may waive his presence by voluntarily absenting himself after trial has begun. (*Diaz v. United States* (1912) 223 U.S. 442, 455; *People v. Concepcion* (2004) 45 Cal.4th 77; Pen. Code, § 1043.) But, as with all waivers of constitutional rights, it must be clearly and affirmatively demonstrated on the record, under the totality of the circumstances, that the defendant knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to be present. In this case, appellant did not expressly or impliedly waive his right to be present.

Moreover, a self-induced absence, when not done knowingly and voluntarily for the purpose of avoiding court, cannot be deemed a voluntary waiver of the right to be present. This Court should note the distinction between a mere finding that the defendant deliberately ingested drugs, thereby leading to an overdose and absence, and a finding that a defendant waived his

rights by deliberately ingesting drugs for the purpose of effecting his absence from trial. Only the latter should meet the high standard required to find a waiver of the constitutional right to be present.

A. Standard of Review

On appeal, the reviewing court must review the entire record to determine whether defendant's absence was knowing and voluntary. (*People v. Connolly* (1973) 36 Cal.App.3d 379, 385.) Insofar as the trial court's decision in excluding a criminal defendant from trial "entails a measurement of the facts against the law," an appellate court reviews the decision de novo. (*People v. Waidla* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 690, 741; see also *People v. Gutierrez* (2003) 29 Cal.4th 1196, 1202; but see *People v. Espinoza* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 61, 74 [review of a finding of voluntary absence "is restricted to determining whether the finding is supported by substantial evidence"].)

The voluntariness of a waiver is a question of law which should be reviewed de novo. (*People v. Marshall* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1, 24 [de novo standard to determine voluntariness of waiver of right to counsel]; *People v. Panizzon* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 68, 80 [de novo standard to determine voluntariness of waiver of right to appeal].) Appellant therefore encourages this Court to apply a de novo standard of review, given the important constitutional rights at issue.

B. The Constitutional Right to Be Present At Trial.

The constitutional right of a defendant to be present at his trial is rooted in both the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution. (Waidla, supra, 22 Cal.4th at p. 741.)

The Sixth Amendment includes a compact statement of the rights necessary to a full defense: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right... to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence." (U.S. Const., amend. VI.)

Because these rights are basic to our adversary system of criminal justice, they are part of the "due process of law" that is guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to defendants in the criminal courts of the States. (Faretta v. California (1975) 422 U.S. 806, 818.) "The rights to notice, confrontation, and compulsory process, when taken together, guarantee that a criminal charge may be answered in a manner now considered fundamental to the fair administration of American justice—through the calling and interrogation of favorable witnesses, the cross-examination of adverse witnesses, and the orderly introduction of evidence. In short, the [Fourteenth] Amendment constitutionalizes the right in an adversary criminal trial to make a defense as we know it." (Ibid.)

Due process "clearly requires" that a defendant be allowed to be present "to the extent that a fair and just hearing would be thwarted by his absence..." (*Kentucky v. Stincer* (1987) 482 U.S. 730, 745, quoting *Snyder v. Massachusetts* (1934) 291 U.S. 97, 108.) Thus, a defendant is guaranteed the right to be present at

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