In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S262010

 \mathbf{v} .

MARCOS ANTONIO RAMIREZ,

Defendant and Appellant.

Appellate District Fifth, Case No. F076126 County Superior Court, Case No. CRF50964 Honorable James A. Boscoe, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

(Rogers, supra, 150 Cal.App.2d at p. 411, internal quotation marks omitted, italics added.)

The current version of section 1043, subdivision (b) was not added until 1970. (*People v. White* (1971) 18 Cal.App.3d 44, 49, fn. 3.) The prior version of section 1043 is materially different from the current version in that the current version explicitly provides a trial court with the option to proceed with the trial in a defendant's absence, whereas the prior version required that a mistrial be declared. As such, neither *Rogers* nor *Guillory* addressed the question of what constitutes substantial evidence

of voluntary absence where mistrial is not the only option before the court. (Guillory, supra, 178 Cal.App.2d at p. 862 [concluding the "defendant had a fair and considerate trial"]; Rogers, supra, 150 Cal.App.2d at p. 415 [holding "the trial court did not commit prejudicial error in refusing a further continuance].)

Furthermore, both Rogers and Guillory were decided before the Supreme Court issued its opinion in Taylor. Thus, any discussion of voluntary absence in Rogers and Guillory did not consider the meaning of voluntary absence under the current version of section 1043, subdivision (b)(2), as explained by the three-part test for voluntariness adopted by the Supreme Court in Taylor.

4. Ramirez's Focus on the Voluntariness of His Drug Ingestion Is Misplaced

Lastly, Ramirez's emphasis on the voluntariness of his drug ingestion is misplaced. The question here is not whether the drug ingestion itself was voluntary but whether the resulting absence was voluntary. (See *Davis*, *supra*, 61 F.3d at pp. 300, 302-303 [affirming finding of voluntary absence because defendant presented no evidence she was physically or mentally incapable of attending trial, despite district court's consideration of whether defendant's drug ingestion was voluntary].) Whether a defendant's *absence* is voluntary is answered by applying the three-part test from *Taylor*. The test, also adopted by this Court in *Espinoza*, *supra* 1 Cal.5th at p. 74, necessarily focuses on the present—i.e., when the defendant is to be in court—in deciding whether the totality of the facts demonstrate the defendant was aware of the proceedings taking place, was aware of his right to be present, and had no sound reason for remaining away.

The heart of this case concerns the third part of that test, which asks whether the defendant had a sound reason for not appearing for trial and not whether the defendant had a sound reason for one or more of the decisions he made that resulted in the absence at the time of trial. Thus, "voluntary" and "voluntarily," as used in section 1043 and rule 43, respectively, refer to the voluntariness of the absence and not the voluntariness of the circumstances leading to the absence. Whether a defendant was acting voluntarily prior to his absence in court, if known by the court, may be relevant as one factor to be considered in applying the Taylor test. But, if relevant at all to the "no sound reason for remaining away" it is but one fact to consider in deciding whether a defendant had a sound reason for not being in court when called to appear. The appropriate focus is on the defendant's condition when he did not appear for trial and not what his intentions were when he acted prior to when his trial was to continue.

D. The Trial Court's Decision to Proceed with the Trial in Ramirez's Absence Was Not an Abuse of Discretion

A finding of voluntary absence under section 1043 permits but does not require the court to proceed with the trial in the defendant's absence. (§ 1043, subd. (b)(2); *Espinoza*, *supra*, 1 Cal.5th at p. 75 [voluntary absence "shall not prevent" the trial from continuing].) "Accordingly, the decision whether to continue with a trial in absentia under the statute or to declare a mistrial rests within the discretion of the trial court." (*Espinoza*, at p. 75.) An abuse of discretion occurs when the "ruling in question 'falls

outside the bounds of reason' under the applicable law and relevant facts." (*People v. Williams* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 148, 162.)

In *Espinoza*, this Court recognized that the inquiry under section 1043, subdivision (b)(2), does not end with a finding of voluntary absence. (*Espinoza*, *supra*, 1 Cal.5th at p. 75.) The trial court must still decide whether to proceed with the trial in the defendant's absence. (*Ibid.*) This Court has recognized the disruptive nature of delays in trial proceedings. (*Concepcion*, *supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 83.)

"By the time the oath is administered to the jurors selected in a criminal case, significant resources (both fiscal and human) have been tapped. A courtroom and its personnel have been set aside for the trial, precluding their use for the trial of any other case. Prospective jurors have been summoned, at great cost and inconvenience to many of them. The prosecutor and defense counsel have arranged their schedules accordingly and may have had to continue other cases they are handling. Subpoenaed witnesses have taken the steps necessary to ensure that they are available to testify. The court and counsel may have invested time, energy, and resources to prepare for and address motions in limine. During voir dire, prospective jurors have been subjected to personal, probing questions. And, if another matter had to be reset because the criminal trial made the courtroom and its personnel unavailable to try the other case, the administration of justice has been affected, and other parties have been inconvenienced, often at great personal expense."

(*Id.* at pp. 83-84, quoting *People v. Granderson* (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 703, 708.)

This Court in *Espinoza* concluded that it was reasonable for the trial court to consider that "[Espinoza's] failure to appear was a continuation of his efforts to manipulate the court and delay his criminal trial." (Espinoza, supra, 1 Cal.5th at p. 77.) Here, the record established that, despite having ingested drugs and staying out until 2:00 a.m., Ramirez was physically and mentally capable of refusing medical treatment. (RT 46-47.) Two-and-ahalf hours later, he initially told an officer willing to transport him that he would come to court and then, after speaking to his counsel, changed his mind and went to the hospital instead. (RT 46.) He waited at the hospital several hours before seeing a doctor (RT 47 [around 9:30 a.m., Ramirez decides to go to the hospital, 131-132 [at 2:00 p.m., defense counsel informs court that Ramirez was released from the hospital and went homel, supporting an inference that he was not in need of immediate medical attention. After being seen by a doctor, he went home instead of coming to court. (RT 131-132.) All of Ramirez's actions objectively demonstrated an intent to frustrate the trial process and weighed in favor of proceeding with the trial in his absence. At the very least, appellant's actions reflected a flagrant disregard for the court proceedings. (See Connolly, supra, 36 Cal.App.3d at p. 387 [describing defendant's conduct as "an example of flagrant disregard of the duty to appear in court" in finding him voluntarily absent].)

Another factor the trial court can consider in deciding whether to proceed with trial is the current stage of the trial proceedings. (*Espinoza*, *supra*, 1 Cal.5th at p. 78.) In *Espinoza*, the jury had been selected and sworn, the prosecution's first witness had testified, and the jury was told the trial would last no more than two weeks. (*Ibid.*) Under these circumstances, this

Court concluded that the trial court acted within its discretion in deciding to proceed with the trial in the defendant's absence. (*Id.* at p. 79.) Similarly here, the jurors had been selected and sworn. They had also made the effort to show up to court, unlike Ramirez, on the morning of the second day of trial ready to proceed. The witnesses had been subpoenaed and were prepared to testify that day. The court and counsel had already discussed pretrial motions, and were prepared to proceed with opening statements and the presentation of evidence. Thus, this factor also weighed in favor of proceeding with the trial in Ramirez's absence.

Moreover, defense counsel was unable to provide any assurances that Ramirez would appear the following day or at any date certain. He was not even aware of the specifics of Ramirez's condition, as evidenced by his statement to the court, "whatever that means," in relation to Ramirez's mother saying Ramirez was in no condition to come to court. Indeed, as the trial court noted (RT 51), Ramirez had failed to appear at an earlier set trial date and had just demonstrated a willful disregard for the trial process by engaging in conduct that was, at best, ambivalent in securing his presence at trial. Even the trial court itself expressed its concern that, based on Ramirez's conduct the day before, he would not appear for sentencing if he was not remanded into custody. (RT 200.) And, as more fully explained in Argument II below, any assistance Ramirez could have provided to his defense by testifying was minimal.

Considering Ramirez's actions evidencing an intentional attempt to frustrate the trial process, the potential disruption a delay would have on the jurors, witnesses, court, and counsel, and the lack of any assurance that Ramirez would actually appear the following day, the trial court's decision to proceed with the trial was well within the bounds of reason.⁹

II. ASSUMING, ARGUENDO, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING RAMIREZ VOLUNTARILY ABSENT OR IN PROCEEDING WITH THE TRIAL IN HIS ABSENCE, ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS

Ramirez argues here for the first time that the trial court's decision to proceed with the trial in his absence was structural error requiring reversal without a showing of prejudice. (OBM 48-53.) Alternatively, he argues that the alleged error was prejudicial under both federal and state standards. (OBM 53-58.) Because Ramirez did not raise the issue of structural error in the Court of Appeal or in his petition for review, this Court should not consider that argument now. Furthermore, the alleged error in this case is not one that falls within the very narrow category of structural error. Nor was the alleged error prejudicial under the federal or state standard for harmless error.

⁹ If this Court finds that the trial court's decision to proceed with the trial in Ramirez's absence was a proper exercise of discretion, then the court's denial of the one-day continuance was necessarily proper as well.

A. This Court Should Not Consider Ramirez's Newly-Raised Structural Error Claim; the Erroneous Denial of the Right to Presence Is Not Structural Error

Initially, this Court should not consider Ramirez's argument that the alleged error in this case was structural, because he failed to raise it in the Court of Appeal or in his petition for review. As a policy matter, this Court normally will not consider an issue that the petitioner did not raise in the Court of Appeal. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(1); see *In re J.G.* (2019) 6 Cal.5th 867, 878, fn. 3 [declining to consider argument not raised in the Court of Appeal].) Not only did Ramirez fail to raise the issue of structural error in the Court of Appeal, he specifically petitioned this Court to grant review on the following issue: "Was the violation of petitioner's constitutional right to be present for trial prejudicial error which required reversal under both the Watson and Chapman standards?" (OBM 8.) Thus, the question before this Court is not whether the alleged error was structural, but whether it was prejudicial under both $Watson^{10}$ and $Chapman^{11}$.

In any event, the erroneous denial of the right to presence does not constitute structural error. As this Court has recognized:

The high court has never suggested a defendant's improper absence from any critical stage of the proceedings constitutes structural error requiring reversal without regard to prejudice. On the contrary,

 $^{^{10}\,}People\,v.$ Watson (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818.

¹¹ Chapman v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18.

it has listed such constitutional error as belonging to the broad class of errors that may be harmless. [Citations.]

(People v. Mendoza (2016) 62 Cal.4th 856, 901.)

Moreover, "[b]y their very nature, structural errors render a trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable determinant of a defendant's guilt or innocence." (*People v. Reese* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 660, 668.) In finding rule 43 constitutional and adopting the three-part approach in *Taylor*, the United States Supreme Court has necessarily determined that a defendant's absence from trial, whether in whole or in part, does not render a trial fundamentally unfair. The California Legislature impliedly agreed by amending section 1043 to allow for voluntary absences rather than automatic mistrial. Thus, Ramirez's argument that his case should be treated differently because he was not present for "the entirety of the trial" does not hold water. (OBM 53.)

Instead, this Court has held that "[u]nder the federal Constitution, error pertaining to a defendant's presence is evaluated under the harmless-beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard set forth in *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 23." (*People v. Davis* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 510, 532.) Additionally, error under section 1043 "is state law error only, and therefore is reversible only if it is reasonably probable that a result more favorable to the appealing party would have been reached in the absence of the error. (*People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836.)" (*People v. Davis, supra*, 36 Cal.4th at pp. 532-533, internal quotation marks omitted.)

B. Any Error in Proceeding with the Trial in Ramirez's Absence Was Harmless under Both State and Federal Standards

Ramirez's absence during the second day of trial was harmless because his presence would not have materially contributed to his defense. The perpetrator's identity was the main issue in this case. Defense counsel could have called Ramirez's mother to testify that Ramirez was not the person in the surveillance video, but he chose not to. Additionally, jurors were able to see Ramirez in person on the first day of trial and compare him to the individual depicted in the surveillance video. Defense counsel acknowledged as much in his closing argument. (RT 164 ["[F]ortunately everyone got to see [Ramirez] here Wednesday morning. You got to see him in person. You also got to see him on the interview with the police officer. You know what he looks like"].) Moreover, it does not appear that being able to observe appellant in court on the second day of trial would have made any difference, because the surveillance video was grainy and never showed the perpetrator's full face. (Opn. 17, fn. 16.) Thus, it appears that the jury's conclusion that appellant was the person in the surveillance video was based more on the perpetrator's unique hat matching the hat that Ramirez was later seen wearing than on the perpetrator's facial features. The surveillance video evidence spoke for itself and could not have been discredited by appellant's testimony in the event he was present and testified on his own behalf.

With regard to Ramirez's statements to Officer Bowly, Ramirez may have tried to explain his statements but he could not have denied making them because the entire conversation was recorded by Officer Bowly's body camera. The jurors viewed the body camera footage, "which was of good quality" (Opn. 17), and could adequately assess Ramirez's statements in the context of the questions asked. Defense counsel emphasized this point to the jury during closing argument. (RT 166 [urging the jury to watch the body camera video at least twice in order to analyze Ramirez's statements in context with his body language].) In the context of all of the evidence, the jury could have reasonably interpreted Ramirez's statements to Officer Bowly as implied admissions.

Finally, the jury was instructed not to consider the reason for appellant's absence at all in their deliberations. (RT 54.) The jury is presumed to have understood and followed this instruction. (*People v. Prince* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1179, 1295; see also *Weeks v. Angelone* (2000) 528 U.S. 225, 234.)

Accordingly, Ramirez's absence from trial did not affect the outcome, and any federal Constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (See *People v. Davis, supra*, 36 Cal.4th at pp. 533-534 [defendant's absence harmless under *Chapman* where his presence would not have assisted his defense].) As for any state law error under section 1043, "because the *Watson* standard is less demanding than the harmless-beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard" (*People v. Cahill* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 478, 510), "[i]t follows that it is not reasonably probable that a result more favorable to [Ramirez] would have been

reached had he been present" (*Davis*, *supra*, 36 Cal.4th at p. 534, internal quotation marks omitted).

CONCLUSION

The People respectfully request that the judgment be affirmed.